IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

APPELLEE,

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner/Defendant resided with a Tasha Pack in a small house up 9 miles of bad road, where it dead-ended, in Summers County, West Virginia.

On April 19, 2002 his 20 and 12 year old sons from prior marriage were visiting them. They went into Hinton, West Virginia to a restaurant for dinner. Tasha's ex-husband, Mark McBride showed up, intoxicated. Petitioner's party were cordial towards him. However he was removed from the premises by a Deputy Sheriff, who an off duty city police officer called because Mr. McBride had been previously "barred" from the restaurant for bad conduct. Mr. Dinger was asked by the deputy to give Mr. McBride a ride home in lieu of his being arrested. Mr. Dinger and his older son did so, but McBride asked to be let out short of going home. Mr. Dinger returned to the restaurant. "Mac" Lilly the later "victim" showed up. Mac Lilly being intoxicated, he asked them for a ride home. At Mac Lilly's house, no one was home. Mr. Lilly suggested they give him a ride to a local campground hangout to meet some people. The people he wanted to meet weren't there, so they took him back to his (parent's) house. At the house were Mr. Lilly's father, who appeared intoxicated; and Mark McBride. An argument and scuffle ensued between the Lilly's, therefore Mr. Dinger and his party went home, a few miles up the road.

About an hour (approximately 3:00 a.m.) later Mac Lilly and Mark McBride showed up at Mr. Dinger's residence. They were allowed in. Mac Lilly passed out on the sofa. Mark McBride began making incoherent verbal threats and on failing to desist after being repeatedly asked, Mr. Dinger punched him and knocked him down. Mr.

Dinger picked him up, he was given a wet towel, he sat in a chair for a while, and went outside and didn't come back.

About 8:00 a.m. Mark McBride came back in stating he slept in a ditch. Mac Lilly awoke, and observing Mark McBride's bruised face, got angry and argumentative. Mark McBride tried to start a fight with Mr. Dinger and his older son. After Mark McBride and Mac Lilly calmed down and shook hands with Mr. Dinger, at their request Mr. Dinger and his sons gave them a ride. On their return to the home, everybody laid down to rest some more.

About an hour later, two of Mark McBride's male relatives, Jason McBride and Kenny Ray Steele, showed up wanting to fight because of what had happened to Mark McBride. They pushed their way into the house (technically, a burglary). Tasha and Mr. Dinger persuaded them to leave. (Tasha Pack, having been married to Mark McBride, knew all these people. Larry Dinger had met none of them before this). As they left they said they would be back.

Everyone laid down again to rest.

About an hour later Mr. Dinger was awakened from the couch by numerous loud voices. Mr. Dinger, seeing a number of persons as he approached the screen door, picked up a 357 magnum double action revolver from a shelf near the door and stuck it in the back waistband of his pants as he went out.

Mark McBride, Mac Lilly, an Alex Cline, and Kenny Ray Steele were at the front porch, which was near ground level and 6 feet wide, threatening to fight. Tasha and Mr. Dinger's two sons were on the porch. Tasha approached Michael McBride, Jason

McBride and Valerie McBride Blankenship, who were in the yard and near two of the three vehicles which they had arrived in, to persuade them to leave. They would not listen. She ran to her parent's house about 100 yards down the road to call emergency 911, as there was no phone in this house.

Mac Lilly and Mark McBride threw a flowerbox from the porch so they could get on the porch to Mr. Dinger's right, within arms-length. Mac Lilly kept stepping onto and off the edge of the porch, slapping his chest, inviting a fight, and spat in Mr. Dinger's face. Mr. Dinger repeatedly asked them to leave. Mr. Dinger got his 12 year old son inside the screen door; then reached to pull his 20 year old son inside and tried to open the door. Alex Cline, to his left, slammed the door shut and blocked it with chairs which were sitting on the porch. Alex Cline said "You are not getting a "f---"gun". Mr. Dinger pulled the gun from his waistband, leveled it at the group and said "I don't have to, I have one." Mac Lilly grabbed the gun and said "If you pull a gun you'd better use it."

The testimony at trial of Mark McBride, Alex Cline and Valerie McBride Blankenship was that Mac Lilly first tried to turn the gun to point it against Mr. Dinger, then backed up 6 to 8 feet and Mr. Dinger shot him in the head.

The videotaped statement of Mr. Dinger, voluntarily given to the police; and the statements and testimony of his sons at trial was that when Mac Lilly grabbed the gun, it went off.

The testimony of Charles "Rocky" Lane, State Laboratory Firearms examiner was that the shot impact wound was 18 to 24 inches from the muzzle of the gun, that it was possible for the gun to fire and leave no burns on Mac Lilly's hands; and that the gun

would be within both Mr. Dinger and Mac Lilly's arms length. Also he testified a double action revolver will fire with or without the hammer cocked.

The Sheriff, who had realized at the time of the shooting that a GSR test of Mac Lilly's hands could be critical in resolving the conflicting statements about whether Mac Lilly still had his hands on the gun, preserved the evidence by "bagging" his hands, and requested the Medical Examiner make a GSR test kit.

(Counsel for defendant also requested that it be done two days later and requested in discovery and Motion to Compel, which was granted, that it be tested. Upon the testimony at trial of Dr. Kaplan, the Medical Examiner, the Sheriff realized the GSR kit which had "gone missing", had not been sent from the Medical Examiner to the State Police Lab, but returned to the Sheriff's office with Mac Lilly's clothes in a sealed box. Due to lack of experience, the Sheriff assumed the kit would have been sent to the Lab and it had been misplaced there. Subsequent to trial by the Circuit Court's Order, the State Police Lab tested the GSR kit and reported insubstantial residue. This inadequate report took months to be done. The Court then Ordered on Petitioner's Motion, that Petitioner have an expert also test.)

At the scene, Tasha had first called 911 for help; then after Larry and his sons came to her parents house and told what happened, called in the shooting. The others who had been with Mac Lilly had fled the scene.

The Sheriff arrived to a scene of tumult with Mac Lilly's cohorts and others who had returned with them, shouting and threatening. With assistance of back up deputies and State Troopers the scene was secured. Mac Lilly was lying next to the porch, dead

of a single gunshot to the forehead. Testimony at trial was that the body had been moved prior to the Sheriff's arrival.

Mr. Dinger was taken in and gave a voluntary videotaped statement. Other statements were taken. He was charged with murder.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A NEW TRIAL HEARING ON REMAND FROM THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS ON NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE (GUNSHOT RESIDUE TESTING OF THE VICTIM'S HANDS), CITING LACK OF DUE DILLIGENCE. Considering only the inadequate post trial report of the State Police Laboratory and ignoring the report, testing, and testimony of Robert White, defendant's expert (who in his 30 years of employment at the State Police Laboratory had created and run the GSR Testing Facility); the Court stated because the Laboratory technician's report (which misstated her own test results,) found no substantial residue (which was controverted on her test results and his own, by Robert White) that if the test report from the State Police Laboratory Report had been available at trial, it would not have made a difference.
2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING "GRUESOME" PICTURES IN EVIDENCE; PARTICULARLY OF DECEDENT'S FACE AND HEAD, AS THEY WERE NOT PROBATIVE OF ANY MATERIAL FACT AND IMMATERIAL AS IT SHOWED NO FACT THAT WAS IN DISPUTE, AND WAS INTRODUCED SOLELY TO INFLAME THE JURY AND TO REPEATEDLY DISPLAY A GUNSHOT TO THE

HEAD TO THE JURY. The testimony of the Medical Examiner was neutral and there was no issue of cause of death. The testimony of the State Firearms Examiner was not in dispute and in fact favorable to the defense. The pictures provided absolutely no additional evidence or proved any matter in issue, but were used solely to inflame the jury's emotions.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S "ACCIDENT" AND "INABILITY TO RETREAT" INSTRUCTIONS.
4. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT DISMISSING THE CASE UPON DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS AT THE CLOSE OF STATE'S CASE IN CHIEF AND UPON ALL THE EVIDENCE ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE STATE DID NOT DISPROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT ACTED IN DEFENSE OF SELF AND FAMILY UPON THE ASSAULT BY THE VICTIM AND HIS 5 ALLIES.
5. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT DISMISSING THE INDICTMENT ON DEFENDANT'S PRE-TRIAL MOTION UPON THE COURT IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTING THE GRAND JURY AT THE END OF THEIR LENGTHY DELIBERATIONS, THAT THEY COULD ISSUE A "GENERAL" MURDER INDICTMENT RATHER THAN ONE OF A DEGREE OF HOMICIDE, AND LET THE PETIT JURY DECIDE WHETHER IT WAS MURDER OR NOT.
6. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT DISMISSING 1ST DEGREE OR 2ND DEGREE MURDER CHARGES PRIOR TO THE JURY'S DELIBERATION, AS THERE WAS

**INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW OF PREMEDITATION OR
MALICE.**

ARGUMENT

1. THE "LOSS" OF THE GSR KIT BY IGNORANCE OF THE SHERIFF, PREVENTED THE DEFENSE FROM ACQUIRING EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE REGARDING THE ONLY SERIOUS FACT ISSUE AT TRIAL, THE RESULTS WHICH SHOWED THE "VICTIM" STILL HAD HIS HANDS ON THE GUN WHEN IT WENT OFF.

The retest of the Gunshot Residue Kit from the "victims" hands showed there was substantial gunshot residue on both of the victim's hands, and that the newly employed current State Police Laboratory technician's results also found the residue, but she incorrectly interpreted or reported the results. This evidence corroborated the testimony of Mr. Dinger and his witnesses, and that of "Rocky" Lane, the firearms expert witness. It also severely impeached the credibility of the other assailants who testified that the "victim" has ceased to try to take the gun away from Mr. Dinger. And it was evidence that not only was uncontroverted (The State's Laboratory technician was not called to testify on Rule 33 hearing), but as the Sheriff recognized at the scene of the crime, indicated whether or not the "victim" was still trying to take the gun away when he was shot. This was the only serious fact in dispute at Trial. The State claimed that the "victim" had retreated, let go of the gun, and petitioner deliberately and coldly shot him.

Because of the loss of the GSR kit samples, the results were unable to be obtained at trial, and in fact took many months to obtain after trial upon the Circuit court's post trial orders to test the kit.

The results of the test, not the samples taken were the evidence defendant requested in discovery; were ordered compelled to be provided; and were stated by the State to be its untended evidence in advance of trial. Pursuant to WVA Rule of Evidence 705, it is the experts opinion results which are evidence, and in fact the underlying data doesn't even have to be disclosed even on cross examination.

In State v Osakalumi, 194 WVA 758,461 S.E.2d 504 (1995), this Court said:

"When the State had or should have had evidence requested by a criminal defendant but the evidence no longer exists when the defendant seeks its production, a trial court must determine (1) whether the requested material, if in the possession of the State at the time of the defendant's request for it, would have been subject to disclosure under either West Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 16 or case law;(2) whether the State had a duty to preserve the material; and (3) if the State did have a duty to preserve the material, whether the duty was breached and what consequences should flow from the breach. In determining what consequences should flow from the State's breach of its duty to preserve evidence, a trial court should consider (1) the degree of negligence or bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing evidence considering the probative value and reliability of secondary or substitute evidence that remains available; and (3) the sufficiency of the other evidence produced at the trial to sustain the conviction.

In Osakalumi, the investigation officers threw away a stinking bloody couch during the lengthy time before the defendant was arrested. A "battle of experts" opinion ensued at trial as to whether the couch, if the defense had tested it, would

have corroborated defendants evidence the "victim" shot himself playing "Russian Roulette." See also: State v. Paynter 206 W.Va. 521, 526 S. E.2d 43(19999)(GSR Test Lost).

In this case, the Sheriff of Summers County, hearing conflicting statements about how the gunshot occurred, realized the criticality of trying to obtain evidence; "bagged" the victim's hands; and requested the GSR kit samples be taken by the medical examiner. Because of his lack of experience and training (elected Sheriffs are not required by West Virginia law to be trained at the State Police Academy) he assumed when the laboratory never could locate the GSR kit, it was lost. In fact it was discovered after the State's case, on recall of the Sheriff by the defense , that the GSR kit had been boxed up and sealed with the victim's clothes when returned by the medical examiner, and had been in the evidence locker (Trial Transcript Day III, pp 452-457). One of the Deputies involved in this case was asked the following:

Q "You're a certified law enforcement officer?"

A Yes, sir.

Q And that means you went to the State Police Academy, took courses, and passed?

A Yes, sir.

.....

Q And isn't it true, as I have been advised, that at the State Police Academy, they tell officers you have a gun. If somebody tries to take it away from you, that can be considered by you as deadly force, which may entitle you to shoot?

A Yes, Sir."

(Transcript, Trial Day III, p 422).

The Court below ruled, the defendant did not exercise due diligence in trying to secure the evidence at trial; and that of the State Police Laboratory report had been available at trial, being inconclusive, it would have not made a substantial difference (ignoring the testimony of Robert White, who was more experienced, and his uncontroverted testimony that the State Police Laboratory report was incorrect and misstated the actual results of that test).

When considering a Motion for a New Trial, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has stated that five criteria must be met:

A new trial of evidence will not be granted on the ground of newly-discovered evidence unless the case comes within the following rules: (1) the evidence must appear to have been discovered since the trial, and, from the affidavit of the new witness, what such evidence will be, or its absence satisfactorily explained. (2) It must appear from facts stated in his affidavit that plaintiff was diligent in ascertaining and securing his evidence, and that the new evidence is such that due diligence would not have secured it before the verdict. (3) Such evidence must be new and material, and not merely cumulative; and cumulative evidence is additional evidence of the same kind to the same point. (4) The evidence must be such as ought to produce an opposite result at a second trial on the merits. (5) And the new trial will generally be refused when the sole object of the new evidence is to discredit or impeach a witness on the opposite side.

S1. Pt. 1, State v. O'Donnell, 189 W. Va. 628, 632, 433 S.E.2d 566,570 (1993); (the undersigned was O'Donnell's counsel at trial and on appeal);

Syllabus, State v. Frazier, 162 W. Va. 35,235 S.E.2d 534 (1979) quoting Syl. Pt.

1, Halstead v. Horton, 38 W. Va. 727, 18 S.E. 953 (1894), Syl. Pt. 1, State v.

King, 173 W. Va. 164, 313, S.E.2d 440 (1894). "If any of the foregoing essential five requirements is not satisfied or complied with, a new trial will not be granted on the ground of newly discovered evidence." State v. Helmick, 201 W. Va. 163, 167-168, 495 S.E.2d 262,266-267 (1997).

The Circuit Court below relied on an Ohio case, State v. Sheppard, 100 Ohio App. 399, 128 N.E.2d 504 (1955); to find that the defendant didn't exercise due diligence. Unlike in Sheppard the evidence didn't exist at trial: the testing results obtained by the State Police Laboratory weeks later; and Robert White's results obtained months later; and objective expert evaluation and testimony about the results.

Defendant requested informally in advance of trial that the victim's hands be tested for gunshot residue.

Defendant requested formally in discovery that the GSR kit be obtained, tested and test data and results be provided.

The Circuit Court ordered the State to provide such discovery on Motion to Compel. The State listed it to be part of its evidence, in pretrial list of witnesses and exhibits.

The State through inadvertence and ignorance "lost" the samples. The samples were in the State's custody in the Sheriff's evidence locker, inaccessible to the defendant.

Where the samples were wasn't known until the last few minutes of a 3 day trial.

Test results did not exist until after trial.

The Circuit Court stated in its Order that:

"The Court concludes that the Defendant's Motion for New Trial must be Denied because due diligence on the Defendant's part could have ascertained the results [emphasis added] before the trial. Based upon Defendant's Motion to Compel dated January 17, 2003 and the State's Final Witness List dated February 18, 2003, it is clear the Defense Counsel knew that the victim's hands had been bagged at the crime scene in preparation for a Gunshot Residue test to be performed and that no test results [emphasis added] had been received. Had Defense Counsel been diligent in ascertaining the location of the test, testing could have been conducted during discovery and the results [emphasis added] could have been taken into consideration at the trial. However, even if Karen Powers at the State Police Laboratory had tested the Gunshot Residue Test Kit prior to the trial instead of after the trial, she would have reached the same conclusion – that there was one particle of Gunshot Residue on the face of the victim and none on his hands."

A defendant cannot conduct an independent investigation of the police's evidence locker; he can only request discovery. The State was the one guilty of lack of diligence in complying with the Order to Compel discovery.

The Circuit Court then stated that even if the State Police Laboratory report had been available at trial it wouldn't have made a difference as the lab technician (incorrectly) reported insubstantial evidence of gunshot residue on the victim.

The Circuit Court ignored the actual qualitative evidence, the "results", as it stated in its Order quoted above.

In the hearing on newly discovered evidence, the Prosecuting Attorney said "State would absolutely agree and stipulate Mr. White's an expert..." [in gunshot residue testing]. Tr. (Motion for New Trial 6/7/04 p. 8). Mr. White stated he had testified approximately 1,100 times when he was an employee of the State Police Laboratory.

Mr. White testified:

"Q Sir, if you will, for the record, tell us what is a gunshot-residue test.

A The gunshot-residue test that was performed in this case is a test of samples taken from the hands and face of the subject. Gunshot residue comes out of a gun when it's discharged in all the leak areas of the gun. Comes out the muzzle. Comes out around the cylinder, front and back of the cylinder, the hammer. And it comes out in a smoke cloud about three-foot diameter, roughly around three feet on each side of the gun, and deposits on whatever areas are near.

The samples are then collected with a special sticky material, sticky stubs that are dabbed on the hands and the face. Then, they're analyzed with an electron microscope.

Q And in your investigation of this matter, what materials did you obtain, what things did you look at as far as rendering any opinion?

A I looked at several documents that were given to me. I received the documents regarding the test done by the State Police Laboratory, samples taken from the hands "and face of Mac Lilly. I looked at the autopsy report. Copy transcript of Lane's testimony. And I analyzed the same samples at the laboratory analyzed from Mac Lilly.

Q Now go over that in some more detail. You know Clarence R. Lane or you knew him?

A Yes, very well.

Q You were able to – given a copy of a transcript of his testimony at the trial of this matter?

A Yes."

(Transcript Hearing Motion for New Trial pp. 10-11)

The testing procedure and analysis is not quick and simple:

"Q Okay. If you will then, sir, can you tell us what you did to perform your analysis?

A I rent a scanning electron microscope in Pennsylvania, up near Pittsburg. And I took those samples up to that laboratory and used the equipment there to analyze those samples. So I actually performed the same test that the State did.

Q Was your – what is a scanning electron microscope, for the record?

A This is an instrument. Pertaining to this case, it's used for gunshot-residue analysis. It's a very large instrument. It's not like a little microscope you look at with

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