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

#### ARGUMENT

##### **A. THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS TO THE GRAND JURY DO NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR.**

After extensive quotation from the grand jury transcript, the Appellant finally quotes the trial court's instructions to the grand jury:

JUDGE IRONS: Is there a question?

GRAND JUROR J: We want you to define murder.

JUDGE IRONS: Lesser included –

MR. MCNEELY: What an indictment for murder would include.

JUDGE IRONS: What lesser included offenses there are?

GRAND JUROR B: Uh-huh.

JUDGE IRONS: Murder is murder. You got first degree murder, you got second degree murder, you got voluntary manslaughter, you got involuntary manslaughter, typically.

The court went on to instruct the jury as to the essential elements of first degree murder, and all of its lesser included offenses.

(Grand Jury Tr. 41-42.)

After a grand juror asked if they could indict on one of the lesser-included offenses, Judge Irons responded, "You can ask [the prosecutor] to go back and draft an indictment for one of the lesser offenses." In response to a grand juror's question, the court then stated, "Typically, what happens is when a person is charged with murder, there is an indictment for simple murder and the petit jury sorts out what it is."

The trial court's statement to the grand jury was legally correct. It informed them that they could indict on a lesser-included offense. (Grand Jury Tr. 42.) It then stated that they could also return a general murder indictment. If they did so, the petit jury would decide what offense, if any, had been committed.

"In West Virginia, we do not have indictments for first and second degree murder. *State v. Justice*, 191 W.Va. 261, 267, 445 S.E.2d 202, 208 (1994) citing *State v. Schnelle*, 24 W.Va. 767 (1884). Instead, we permit indictments for 'murder', with the degree of murder contingent upon the proof presented at trial. *Id.* (citing *State v. Johnson*, 49 W.Va. 684, 39 S.E. 665 (1901)). 'A general form of indictment for murder' is sufficient for a first or second degree murder conviction, *or a conviction for any lower grade of homicide. Id.* (citing *State v. Douglass*, 41 W.Va. 537, 23 S.E. 724 (1895))."

*State ex rel. State v. Hill*, 201 W. Va. 95, 491 S.E.2d 765 (1997) (emphasis added.)

After the judge left a juror stated, "I do not think there is any doubt, based on what [the prosecutor] said. There is a man dead and this man says he shot him. We were concerned about whether it's a cold-blooded murder or self defense." To which a second juror responded, "that is not

for us to say.” (Grand Jury Tr. 44.) Clearly, the juror’s primary concern was whether the Appellant acted in self-defense, perhaps believing that self-defense reduced the seriousness of the charge. This motivated them to ask the judge to define murder, and its lesser-included offenses. Once the court did that, the jury returned a general murder indictment, leaving it to the jury to sort out the self-defense issue.

The Appellant claims that the trial court permitted the grand jury to “pass the buck” to the petit jury. That is exactly what the law permits them to do. *See State v. Justice*, 191 W.Va. 261, 445 S.E.2d 202 (1994). Thus, the court’s instructions were proper.

**B. THE TRIAL COURT’S DECISION TO ADMIT POSTMORTEM PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE VICTIM WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.**

In Syl. pt. 10, *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994), this Court ruled that a trial court’s exercise of its discretion in ruling to admit potentially gruesome photographs should not be overturned absent a clear showing of abuse. The Appellant limited his objections to two photographs labeled State’s Exhibit 7 and State’s Exhibit 8. State Medical Examiner James Kaplan took both photographs, and made them part of his autopsy report. (Trial Tr. 62.) Both Dr. Kaplan and Firearms Expert Rocky Lane used these photographs as demonstrative exhibits during their testimony.

State’s Exhibit 7 depicted the condition of the victim’s body when the medical examiner received it. (Trial Tr. 62.) They depict the victim’s hands wrapped in paper bags, with some blood distributed on his body. (*Id.*) State’s Exhibit 8 was a shot of the bullet wound and the stippling pattern around it. (*Id.*) At trial the Appellant claimed that these photographs were unnecessary and immaterial. He argued that he was ready to stipulate to the cause of death, and had no objections to

testimony from the firearm expert regarding the stippling pattern found on the victim's face. (Trial Tr. 6.)

The trial court convened an *in camera* hearing on the Appellant's motion, permitting defense counsel substantial leeway in his cross-examination of Dr. Kaplan. After analysis of counsel's arguments the trial court stated:

All right, the Court having considered the matter, the pictures are really not gruesome. They do show a dead body.<sup>10</sup> From the evidence brought forth here today in the *in camera* hearing, the Court finds that there is -- may be some probative value. The photographs show that there's an absence of wounding, and would also have some probative value from the standpoint of establishing the distance between the two persons involved in the incident at the time the shooting took place because of the location or absence of powder burns and the way powder burns are displayed in the photograph. So the Court feels that the probative value is not outweighed by any prejudicial value due to the fact that the photographs might be seen as having some gruesomeness about them.

(Trial Tr. 73.)

The trial court's decision was not an abuse of discretion. See *Wallace v. State*, 725 N.E.2d 837, 839 (Ind. 2000) (Admission of postmortem photograph depicting a gunshot wound to the victim's left eyelid admissible to prove nature of the wound, and to illustrate the pathologist's testimony about the stippling pattern near the wound.). It applied the correct standard of law as articulated in *Derr*, and its factual findings were reasonable. Appellant's willingness to stipulate to certain facts did not render the photographs irrelevant. Dr. Kaplan used Exhibit 8 to illustrate the idea of stippling to the jury, and the significance of the patterns found on the victim's face. (Trial Tr. 83, 93-95.) Clearly, a lay juror would have found these pictures helpful, despite the Appellant's

---

<sup>10</sup>Several other pictures admitted into evidence also depicted the victim's dead body at the scene. (Trial Tr. 30.) Although he objected to the photographs, the Appellant did not object to them as overly gruesome. (*Id.*)

stipulation. Mr. Lane testified that he compared the stippling pattern depicted in State's Exhibit 8 with the stippling from his test firings. (Trial Tr. 158.) He also used the photographs to illustrate his testimony to the jury. (Trial Tr. 161-63.)

The prosecution is entitled to prove its case by evidence of its own choice. *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 186 (1997) citing *Parr v. United States*, 255 F.2d 86, 89 (5th Cir. 1958) ("A party is not required to accept a judicial admission of his adversary but may insist on proving the fact.") (Citation omitted.) The State's decision to show the jury pictures, as opposed to reading from dry reports was well within its discretion. The Appellant could not stipulate away this specific evidence.

**C. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION NOT TO GIVE THE APPELLANT'S "ACCIDENT" AND "INABILITY TO RETREAT" INSTRUCTION WAS NOT ERROR.**

It is the Appellant contention that he offered two jury instructions to the trial court. These instructions are not in the record. Since the Appellant chose not to transcribe the trial court's reading of the instructions, there is no evidence from the transcript that the Appellant ever offered these specific instructions.<sup>11</sup> This Court has ruled that it will not decide issues in instances where they have not developed the record below. *C.f. State v. Miller*, 197 W. Va. 588, 611, 476 S.E.2d 535, 558 (1996) (Appeals court ordinarily will not review ineffective assistance of counsel claims on direct appeal because there are not sufficient facts to conduct an effective review.).

In the instant case, the Appellant has deliberately chosen not to give this Court a sufficient record. His transcript request states, "Trial. Everything from the end of opening statements to the

---

<sup>11</sup>Counsel for the Appellee has called the Circuit Clerk of Monore County, and the Prosecuting Attorney. Neither had full copies of the jury instructions offered by the Appellant.

beginning of jury instructions.” (R. 43.) Given the nature of this assignment of error, his decision not to include these instructions in the record is bad faith. What makes his conduct especially egregious is his decision to characterize the court’s jury instructions as insufficient without including them in the record. The Appellant’s assignment of error is wholly unsupported by facts in the record, and this Court should not consider it.

Even if this Court were to consider this assignment, it is without merit. The refusal of a trial court to give an instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Hinkle*, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996). It is the Appellant’s position that the court’s charge did not sufficiently instruct the jury on the Appellant’s duty to retreat. His proposed instruction reads:

A person who is without fault in an altercation has no duty to retreat while acting in self-defense. If the person is in a substantial degree at fault, he must retreat if able to do so, however, if from fierceness of the attack or if they are prevented from retreating, or for other reasons they are unable to retreat, they will be excused by the law from not doing so.

(Appellant’s Brief at 25.)

A trial court is under no obligation to give instructions that are incorrect as a matter of law. Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 672, 461 S.E.2d 163, 178 (1995). Nor is it required to give instructions that are duplicative or irrelevant. *State v. Boggess*, 204 W. Va. 267, 273, 512 S.E.2d 189, 195 (1998).

The trial court instructed the jury:

[I]f the defendant was not the aggressor, and had reasonable grounds to believe and actually did believe that he or others were in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm from which he could save himself or others only by using deadly force against his assailant or assailants then he had the right to employ deadly force in order to defend himself or others.

In order for the Defendant to have been justified in the use of deadly force in self-defense or in defense of others he must not have provoked the assault on him or have been the aggressor. Mere words, without more, do not constitute provocation of aggression.

The circumstances under which he acted must have been such as to produce in the mind of a reasonably prudent person, similarly situated, the reasonable belief that the other person or persons, then about to kill them or to do them serious bodily harm. In addition, the Defendant must have actually believed that he or they were in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm and that deadly force must be used to repel it. The mere fact the victim or others have not used a deadly weapon during the altercation does not deprive the defendant. Larry Dinger of the right of self-defense or defense of others.

If evidence of self-defense or defense of others, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant did not act in self-defense. If you find that the State has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant did not act in self-defense, or defense of others you must find the defendant not guilty. In other words, if you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not the Defendant acted in self-defense or defense of others, your verdict must be not guilty.

The Appellant does not object to the court's instruction as worded; he argues that it should also have given his "retreat" instruction. The trial court ruled that its charge sufficiently covered the law, *i.e.*, that if the Appellant could have safely retreated, but did not do so, that failure was a circumstance that the jury might consider, with all others in determining whether he went further in repelling the danger, real or apparent, then he was justified in going. *United States v. Peterson*, 483 F.2d 1222, 1234 (D.C. 1973). The court instructed the jury that a defendant, who was not the aggressor - *i.e.*, was without fault - had reasonable grounds to believe and actually did believe<sup>12</sup> he was in danger of death or serious bodily harm, could respond by using deadly force.

Appellant's Instruction F reads:

---

<sup>12</sup>Appellant's instruction is wholly subjective and, therefore, a misstatement of the law.

Manslaughter or murder are the result of some intentional act.<sup>13</sup> Negligent or accidental homicide are neither manslaughter nor murder. If the jury finds that the State has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Larry Dinger intentionally pulled the trigger the weapon causing it to fire, they you must find him not guilty, as he could not be held criminally responsible.

(Appellant's Brief at 26.)

The Appellant seeks to have it both ways: On one hand he claims that he intentionally killed the victim in self-defense; on the other he claims that the gun went off accidentally. If this is true, then was no reason to instruct the jury that the Appellant acted in self-defense. If he shot the victim by accident, the events occurring before the shooting were irrelevant. *See State v. Miller*, 772 S.W.2d 782 (Mo. 1989), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Beeler*, 12 S.W.3d 294 (Mo. 2000) (“The issues which defendant raised in his defense included self-defense and accident. These issues are inconsistent. Self-defense in a homicide matter involves a claim that a life was taken by an intentional act necessary because of apprehension of great bodily harm while accidental homicide involves an unintentional taking of human life.”).

Also, the Appellant's instruction is incorrect as a matter of law. The Appellant claims that “manslaughter or murder are the result of some intentional act.” He then claims, “If the jury finds that the State has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Larry Dinger intentionally pulled the trigger the weapon causing it to fire, they you must find him not guilty, as he could not be held criminally responsible.” This instruction misstates the law. Involuntary manslaughter is the accidental causing of death of another person, although unintended, which death is the proximate result of negligence so gross, wanton, and culpable as to show a reckless disregard for human life. *See West Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions, Wrongful Killing*, <<http://www.state.wv.us.wvsca/jury/>

---

<sup>13</sup>The Appellant does not differentiate between voluntary and involuntary manslaughter.

crimwrongful/.htm> citing *State v. Hose*, 187 W. Va. 429, 419 S.E.2d 490 (1992); *State v. Cobb*, 166 W. Va. 65, 272 S.E.2d 467 (1980); *State v. Vollmer*, 163 W. Va. 711, 259 S.E.2d 837 (1979).

Both the Legislature and this Court have recognized that firearms are inherently dangerous instruments. See W. Va. Code § 61-7-11 (a defendant commits brandishing if he carries, brandishes or uses a firearm enough to cause or threaten a breach of the peace.); W. Va. Code § 61-7-12 (A defendant commits wanton endangerment, a felony, if he wantonly does any act with a firearm which creates a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury to another.). In *State v. Hulbert*, 209 W. Va. 217, 544 S.E.2d 919 (2001), this Court, citing to the plain meaning of the wanton endangerment statute, ruled that a defendant may create a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury without discharging his firearm.

The Appellant's instruction relieves him of any criminal liability unless he intentionally pulled the trigger. That is not an accurate statement of law. It is not just the pulling of the trigger that determines the Appellant's culpability, but the nature of his conduct before the fatal event. *State v. Lytton*, 355 S.E.2d 485, 488 (N.C. 1987). The jury found that the Appellant left the Pack's house with a loaded weapon, unlawfully brandished it, put his finger on the trigger, and pointed it at the victim in a menacing manner. The victim's death was not from an unknown cause or from an unusual or unexpected event from a known cause. See *State v. Lytton*, 355 S.E.2d at 486-87 (North Carolina pattern jury instruction states that accidental killing involves conduct that was unintentional, occurs during lawful conduct, and does not involve culpable negligence.). Loaded guns tend to go off. The death of the victim was entirely foreseeable from the time the Appellant came out of the Pack's home with a loaded firearm.

**D. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DENY APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL WAS NOT ERROR.**

In Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Starkey*, 161 W. Va. 517, 244 S.E.2d 219 (1978), this Court ruled:

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